Masthead Logo

Nova Southeastern University NSUWorks

College of Dental Medicine Student Theses, Dissertations and Capstones

College of Dental Medicine

1-1-2014

BMP2 induced osteogenic differentiation of human umbilical cord stem cells in a peptide-based hydrogel scaffold

Shruthi Lakshmana Nova Southeastern University

This document is a product of extensive research conducted at the Nova Southeastern University College of Dental Medicine. For more information on research and degree programs at the NSU College of Dental Medicine, please click here.

Follow this and additional works at: https://nsuworks.nova.edu/hpd_cdm_stuetd

Part of the Dentistry Commons

Share Feedback About This Item

NSUWorks Citation

Shruthi Lakshmana. 2014. *BMP2 induced osteogenic differentiation of human umbilical cord stem cells in a peptide-based hydrogel scaffold.* Master's thesis. Nova Southeastern University. Retrieved from NSUWorks, College of Dental Medicine. (59) https://nsuworks.nova.edu/hpd_cdm_stuetd/59.

This Thesis is brought to you by the College of Dental Medicine at NSUWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in College of Dental Medicine Student Theses, Dissertations and Capstones by an authorized administrator of NSUWorks. For more information, please contact nsuworks@nova.edu.



Nova Southeastern University NSUWorks

College of Dentistry Student Theses, Dissertations and Capstones

College of Dental Medicine

1-1-2014

BMP2 induced osteogenic differentiation of human umbilical cord stem cells in a peptide-based hydrogel scaffold

Shruthi Lakshmana

This document is a product of extensive research conducted at the Nova Southeastern University College of Dental Medicine. For more information on research and degree programs at the NSU College of Dental Medicine, please click here.

Follow this and additional works at: http://nsuworks.nova.edu/hpd_cdm_stuetd

Share Feedback About This Item

This Thesis is brought to you by the College of Dental Medicine at NSUWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in College of Dentistry Student Theses, Dissertations and Capstones by an authorized administrator of NSUWorks.

BMP2 INDUCED OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF HUMAN UMBILICAL CORD STEM CELLS IN A PEPTIDE-BASED HYDROGEL SCAFFOLD.

Shruthi M. Lakshmana, B.D.S, D.M.D.

A Thesis Presented to the Faculty of the College of Dental Medicine of

Nova Southeastern University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN DENTISTRY

December 2014

© Copyright by Shruthi M. Lakshmana 2014 All Rights Reserved

BMP2 INDUCED OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF HUMAN UMBILICAL CORD STEM CELLS IN A PEPTIDE-BASED HYDROGEL SCAFFOLD.

By

SHRUTHI M. LAKSHMANA, B.D.S, D.M.D.

A Thesis Submitted to the College of Dental Medicine of Nova Southeastern

University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN DENTISTRY

Orthodontic Department

College of Dental Medicine

Nova Southeastern University

December 2014

Approved as to style and content by:

APPROVED BY: ______ Umadevi Kandalam Ph.D, M.S (Committee Chair) Date
APPROVED BY: ______ Abraham Lifshitz, D.D.S, M.S (Committee Member) Date
APPROVED BY: ______ Jose Larumbe, D.D.S, M.S (Committee Member) Date
APPROVED BY: ______

Linda C. Niessen, D.M.D, M.P.H (Dean, College of Dental Medicine) Date



Health Professions Division Department of Orthodontics College of Dental Medicine

STUDENT NAME: Shruthi M. Lakshmana, B.D.S, D.M.D.

STUDENT E-MAIL ADDRESS: sl865@nova.edu

STUDENT TELEPHONE NUMBER: (954) -262-1721

COURSE DESCRIPTION: Master of Science in Dentistry with specialization in Postgraduate Orthodontics

TITLE OF SUBMISSION: BMP2 induced osteogenic differentiation of human umbilical

cord stem cells in a peptide-based hydrogel scaffold.

DATE SUBMITTED: December 12, 2014

I certify that I am the sole author of this thesis, and that any assistance I received in its preparation has been fully acknowledged and disclosed in the thesis. I have cited any sources from which I used ideas, data, or words, and labeled as quotations any directly quoted phrases or passages, as well as providing proper documentation and citations. This thesis was prepared by me, specifically for the M.Sc.D. degree and for this assignment.

STUDENT SIGNATURE:

Shruthi M. Lakshmana, B.D.S, D.M.D.

Date

Dedication

To my loving husband, adorable daughter and wonderful family for all of your love and support throughout my education. Thank you for standing by me in my endeavors.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my mentor, Dr. Umadevi Kandalam. I express my deepest gratitude for her relentless guidance and timely wisdom during this pursuit. Through her persistence and patience she has inspired me to do my best. I am greatly indebted to her for sharing her knowledge and steering the course of this journey.

Next, I would like to thank members of my thesis committee. I would like to thank Dr. Abraham Lifshitz, for his valuable insights and comments in the development of this thesis. I would like to express my sincerest appreciation to Dr. Jose Larumbe for supporting this project and sharing his enthusiasm in serving patients with craniofacial defects.

This project wouldn't have been possible without the grant support from NSU HPD and external grant support from the Southern Association of Orthodontics. I express my heartfelt gratitude to them for upholding this project.

Finally, I would like to thank members of craniofacial research lab. I would like to thank Htet Bo, Christine Manguno and Kevin Petersen for their support in various lab experiments that were involved in this project. I would also like to convey my special thanks to Reem Almashat and Annapurna Bondalapati for their constant motivation and support throughout this project.

vi

Abstract

BMP2 INDUCED OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF HUMAN UMBILICAL CORD STEM CELLS IN A PEPTIDE-BASED HYDROGEL SCAFFOLD.
DEGREE DATE: DECEMBER 12, 2014
SHRUTHI M. LAKSHMANA, B.D.S, D.M.D.
COLLEGE OF DENTAL MEDICINE NOVA SOUTHEASTERN UNIVERSITY
Directed By: Dr. Umadevi Kandalam, Assistant Professor, Department of Pediatric
Dentistry, NSU College of Dental Medicine.

Craniofacial tissue loss due to traumatic injuries and congenital defects is a major clinical problem around the world. Cleft palate is the second most common congenital malformation in the United States occurring with an incidence of 1 in 700. Some of the problems associated with this defect are feeding difficulties, speech abnormalities and dentofacial anomalies. Current treatment protocol offers repeated surgeries with extended healing time. Our long-term goal is to regenerate bone in the palatal region using tissue-engineering approaches. Bone tissue engineering utilizes osteogenic cells, osteoconductive scaffolds and osteoinductive signals. Mesenchymal stem cells derived from human umbilical cord (HUMSCs) are highly proliferative with the ability to differentiate into osteogenic precursor cells. The primary objective of the study was to characterize HUMSCs and culture them in a 3D hydrogel scaffold and investigate their osteogenic potential. PuraMatrix[™] is an injectable 3D nanofiber scaffold capable of self-assembly when exposed to physiologic conditions. Our second objective was to

investigate the effect of Bone Morphogenic Protein 2 (BMP2) in enhancing the osteogenic differentiation of HUMSCs encapsulated in PuraMatrix[™]. We isolated cells isolated from Wharton's Jelly region of the umbilical cord obtained from NDRI (New York, NY). Isolated cells satisfied the minimal criteria for mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) as defined by International Society of Cell Therapy in terms of plastic adherence, fibroblastic phenotype, surface marker expression and osteogenic differentiation. Flow Cytometry analysis showed that cells were positive for CD73, CD90 and CD105 while negative for hematopoietic marker CD34. Alkaline phosphatase activity (ALP) of HUMSCs showed peak activity at 2 weeks (p<0.05).

Cells were encapsulated in 0.2% PuraMatrixTM at cell densities of 10×10^4 , 20×10^4 , 40×10^4 and 80×10^4 . Cell viability with WST and proliferation with Live-Dead cell assays showed viable cells at all cell concentrations (p<0.05). A two- fold upregulation of ALP gene was seen for cells encapsulated in PuraMatrixTM with osteogenic medium compared to cells in culture medium (p<0.05). HUMSCs encapsulated in PuraMatrixTM were treated with BMP2 at doses of 50ng/ml, 100ng/ml and 200ng/ml. A significant upregulation of ALP gene in BMP2 treated cells was seen compared to HUMSCs treated in osteogenic medium (p<0.05). Peak osteogenic activity was noted at BMP2 dose of 100ng/ml (p<0.05). We have developed a composite system of HUMSCs, PuraMatrixTM and BMP2 for repair of bone defects that is injectable precluding additional surgeries.

viii

Table of Contents

Acknowledgement	vi
Abstract	. vii
List of Tables	. xii
List of Abbreviations	XV
1 Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Cleft Palate	1
1.2 Current protocol for Cleft Lip and Palate management	2
1.3 Complications of Cleft Lip and Palate repairs	2
1.4 Application of bone grafts in Cleft Lip and Palate patients	2
1.5 Tissue Engineering	3
1.6 Mesenchymal Stem Cells	4
1.7 Human Umbilical Cord Derived mesenchymal Stem Cells	6
1.8 Scaffolds	7
1.9 PuraMatrix [™]	8
1.10 Bone Morphogenic Proteins	9
1.11 Focus of our research	10
1.12 Objectives	11
1.13 Specific aims and Hypothesis	11
1.13.1 Specific Aim #1: Encapsulating HUMSCs in PuraMatrix	11
1.13.2 Specific Aim #2: Effect of BMP2 on Osteogenic differentiation of PuraMate	rix™
encapsulated HUMSCs	11

	1.1	13.3	Hypothesis	11
	1.14	Lo	ocation of Study	12
2	Cha	apte	er 2 Materials and Methods	13
	2.1	Ма	terials	13
	2.2	0v	erall study design	13
	2.3	Iso	lation protocol	14
	2.3	3.1	Ethics Statement	14
	2.3	3.2	Explant method	15
	2.3	3.3	Enzymatic Digestion	16
	2.4	Cel	l Culture	17
	2.5	Cha	aracterization of HUMSCs	17
	2.5	5.1	Flow Cytometry surface marker analysis	18
	2.5	5.2	Osteogenic Differentiation	18
	2.6	Ene	capsulating HUMSCs in 3D peptide hydrogel scaffold PuraMatrix™	21
	2.7	Cel	ll Viability and Proliferation of HUMSCs in 3D PuraMatrix™ Culture	22
	2.7	7.1	WST Assay	22
	2.7	7.2	Live Dead Cell Assay	23
	2.7	7.3	Cell-Gel Constructs - Osteogenic differentiation	24
	2.8	BM	IP2 treatment and cell seeding on to scaffolds	24
	2.9	Ost	teogenic Differentiation	25
	2.9	9.1	Gene Expression	25
	2.9	9.2	Statistical Analysis	26
3	Cha	apte	er 3 Results	27

3.1 Characterization of HUMSCs	
3.1.1 Immunophenotype of HUMSCs	28
3.1.2 Osteogenic Differentiation of HUMSCs	29
3.2 Cell morphology of cells encapsulated in PuraMatrix [™]	
3.3 Cell proliferation and viability in PuraMatrix ^{TM}	
3.3.1 WST assay	34
3.3.2 Live dead cell assay	35
3.4 Osteogenic differentiation of cells in PuraMatrix TM	
3.4.1 Gene expression	
3.5 Effect of BMP2 on HUMSCS encapsulated in PuraMatrix™	
4 Chapter 4 Discussion and conclusions	
4.1 Discussion	
4.2 Conclusion	
5 Appendix	47
6 Raw Data	
7 Bibliography	50

List of Figures

FIGURE 1-1 NEWBORN INFANT WITH CLEFT LIP AND PALATE	1
FIGURE 1-2 MESENCHYMAL STEM CELL ISOLATED FROM HUMAN UMBILICAL CORD	4
FIGURE 1-3 CROSS-SECTION OF HUMAN UMBILICAL CORD	7
FIGURE 2-1 ISOLATION PROTOCOL WITH EXPLANT METHOD. A- SECTION OF UMBILICAL CORD BE	FORE
LONGITUDINAL INCISION. B- REMOVAL OF VESSELS FROM THE UMBILICAL CORD. C- EXPLAN	IT
TISSUE IN CULTURE MEDIUM, D- VESSELS REMOVED FROM UMBILICAL CORD TISSUE1	5
FIGURE 2-2 ISOLATION OF HUMSCS USING ENZYMATIC DIGESTION1	6
FIGURE 2-3 INCUBATOR, B AND C- CELL CULTURE IN T75 FLASK1	7
FIGURE 2-4 A- COMMERCIALLY AVAILABLE PURAMATRIX™, B AND C- INJECTABLE HYDROGEL	
PURAMATRIX TM 2	2
FIGURE 2-5 CELLS ENCAPSULATED IN PURAMATRIX™ FOR WST ASSAY2	3
FIGURE 2-6 BMP2 TREATMENT OF CELLS ENCAPSULATED IN PURAMATRIX TM 2	5
FIGURE 2-7 STEPS INVOLVED IN RNA ISOLATION20	6
FIGURE 3-1 A- CELLS AFTER PLATING B- FIBROBLASTIC PHENOTYPE OF HUMSCS2	7
FIGURE 3-2 A- CELLS 2 DAYS AFTER PLATING, B- CELLS AT CONFLUENCE AFTER 4 DAYS23	8
FIGURE 3-3 FLOW CYTOMETRY DATA SHOWING SURFACE MARKER OF MSCS24	9
FIGURE 3-4 ALP ACTIVITY OF HUMSCS IN CM COMPARED TO OM SAMPLES AT 1,2 AND 3 WEEKS. 3	0
FIGURE 3-5 GENE EXPRESSION SHOWING UPREGULATION OF OSTEOGENIC GENES ALP, OPG, COL I	AND
OPN. B-ACTIN WAS USED AS AN ENDOGENOUS CONTROL	1
FIGURE 3-6 A- ALIZARIN RED STAINING IN CM AFTER 4 WEEKS. B- ALIZARIN RED STAINING IN OM	I AFTER
4 WEEKS	2
FIGURE 3-7 VON KOSSA STAINING OF CELLS, A- CELLS IN CONTROL GROUP CM AT 4 WEEKS, B- CEI	LLS IN
OM AT 4 WEEKS, B- CELLS IN OM AT 8 WEEKS	2

FIGURE 3-8 A- 100K CELLS IN PURAMATRIX™ ON DAY 0, B- 100K CELLS IN PURAMATRIX™ ON DAY 1.

	33
FIGURE 3-9 A- 100K CELLS IN PURAMATRIX™ ON DAY 3, B- 100K CELLS IN PURAMATRIX™ O	N DAY 4
SHOWING CELLULAR INTERCONNECTIONS.	33
FIGURE 3-10 800K CELLS IN PURAMATRIX™ ON DAY 10	34
FIGURE 3-11 CELL PROLIFERATION WITH WST ASSAY	35
FIGURE 3-12 A- LIVE CELLS IN PURAMATRIX™ AT 100K CONCENTRATION, B- LIVE CELLS IN	
PURAMATRIX™ AT 100K CONCENTRATION	36
FIGURE 3-13 LIVE CELLS IN PURAMATRIX™ AT 400K CONCENTRATION, INSET PICTURE SHO	WS CELLS
GROWTH IN PURAMATRIX™ GEL	36
FIGURE 3-14 A- LIVE CELLS IN PURAMATRIX™ AT 800K CONCENTRATION, B- CELLS IN PURA	MATRIX™ AT
800K CONCENTRATION DISPLAYING 1 DEAD CELL	37
FIGURE 3-15 2-FOLD UPREGULATION OF ALP GENE IN CELL-GEL CONSTRUCTS IN OM.	
FIGURE 3-16 SIGNIFICANT EXPRESSION OF ALP GENE IN BMP2 INDUCED CELL-GEL CONSTRU	ICTS
COMPARED TO CELL-GEL CONSTRUCTS IN OM	39
FIGURE 6-1 SAO GRANT AWARD IN SUPPORT OF THIS PROJECT	47
FIGURE 6-1 ALP ACTIVITY OF HUMSCS IN CONTROL CM AND EXPERIMENTAL GROUP OM	48
FIGURE 6-2 MEAN ABSORBANCE VALUES OF WST ASSAY	49
FIGURE 6-3 ALP ACTIVITY OF HUMSCS IN PURAMATRIX™ IN BMP2	49

List of Tables

TABLE 1-1 CURRENT SURGICAL PROTOCOL FOR REPAIR OF CLEFT LIP AND PALATE	2
TABLE 1-2 SOURCE OF MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS IN TISSUE ENGINEERING	5
TABLE 1-3 CLINICAL APPLICATIONS OF MSC FOR OSTEOGENESIS	6
TABLE 2-1 SPECIFIC PRIMERS TABLE	20
TABLE 4-1 BMP2 APPLICATION IN CELL BASED THERAPY	44

List of Abbreviations

ALP	Alkaline Phosphatase				
BMP2	Bone morphogenic protein 2				
СМ	Culture medium				
Col I	Collagen Type I				
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium				
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor				
HUMSCs	Human umbilical cord derived				
	mesenchymal stem cells				
MSCs	Mesenchymal stem cells				
MSCM	Mesenchymal stem cell medium				
NDRI	National Disease Research Interchange				
ОМ	Osteogenic medium				
OPG	Osteoprotegrin				
OPN	Osteopontin				
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline				

1 CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Cleft Palate



Figure 1-1 Newborn infant with cleft lip and palate.

Cleft palate is the second most common congenital malformation in United States affecting 225,000 children every year¹. Cleft palate is defined as a developmental defect of the palate characterized by a lack of fusion of the two lateral portions of the palate resulting in a communication between the oral cavity and the nasal cavity². Two main regions are involved in palatal clefts, the primary palate- a triangular shaped piece of bone that will include the four incisor teeth and secondary palate which makes up 90% of the hard and soft palates posterior to the primary palate¹. Cleft palate babies suffer from several problems such as feeding difficulties, speech abnormalities, dentofacial anomalies and psychosocial problems³.

1.2 Current protocol for Cleft Lip and Palate management

Numerous efforts have been made to date in order to repair cleft lip and palate defects using surgical procedures in combination with bone graft techniques⁴.

These surgeries begin as early as few weeks after birth followed by surgeries during mixed and permanent dentition as well⁵.

Age	Surgical procedures	References
3-6 months	Cheiloplasty/Lip repair	Farronato et al, 2014 ⁶
6 months	Soft palate closure	Precious et al, 2001 ⁷
12 months	Gingivoperioplasty	Losquadro et al, 2007 ⁸
Before 24 months	Primary bone grafting	Farronato et al, 2014 ⁶
Late mixed dentition	Secondary bone grafting	Jeyaraj, 2014 ⁹

-

1.3 **Complications of Cleft Lip and Palate repairs**

Although these surgeries (Table1-1) are aimed at reducing the adverse effects on maxillofacial growth and development while improving social and psychological development of the child, it does present with certain unfavorable effects. Some of these complications include wound dehiscence, residual lip and/or nose deformity, impaired healing, prolonged period of disability, hypertrophic or keloid scar formation, pain, postoperative hemorrhage and death⁴. These residual deformities often require more corrective surgical procedures. 25% of patients treated by standardized clinical protocol from infancy through adolescence required orthognathic surgery to correct anteroposterior discrepancy of the jaws¹⁰.

1.4 Application of bone grafts in Cleft Lip and Palate patients

Autologous bone graft remains a gold standard for the repair of this defect, which requires large amount of bone graft that may lead to donor site morbidity¹¹. On the

other hand, allografts present potential risk of infections with additional threat of immune response of host tissue towards implant¹². All these methods are aimed to ease the surgical procedures while improving the clinical outcomes of cleft palate treatments, reducing the incidence of scar tissue formation and residual facial asymmetry. People perceive cleft lip and palate patients differently, even after reparative surgery due to residual asymmetry¹³. Recent developments in stem cell based tissue engineering approaches offer an alternative solution.

1.5 **Tissue Engineering**



Tissue engineering involves three basic elements- cells, scaffolds and growth factors. Bone tissue engineering involves the above elements with osteogenic stem cells, osteoconductive scaffolds and osteoinductive growth factors. Osteogenic tissue engineering involves regeneration of bone with stem cells from various sources (Table 1-2) under different culture conditions. Osteogenic tissue engineering plays a crucial role in the repair and regeneration of tissue in craniofacial defects.

1.6 Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Mesenchymal stem cells are adult stem cells capable of giving rise to tissues of mesodermal origin¹. MSCs are originally derived from neural crest cells. During embryological development cells from dorsal part of neural tube (neural crest cells), migrate and form frontonasal processes, first, second, third and fourth pharyngeal arches. Neural crest cells contribute to neural, dermal and mesenchymal structures¹⁴. Mesenchymal cells derived from neural crest cells, after birth, are called "Mesenchymal stem cells" (MSCs)¹⁵.



Figure 1-2 Mesenchymal stem cell isolated from Human Umbilical Cord.

TT - I - I -	4 0	\frown						•	4			
I 2DIO	7_'/	SAURCA	OT	macanch	/mai	etom	COLLE	ın	TICCIIO	and	noor	ina
Iavie	1-2	JUUILE	υı	IIICSCIICII	viiai	SIGIII	CEIIS		แออนต	CIIUI		mu.

Author	Source
Warotayanont et al, 2009	Embryonic stem cells- inner cell mass ¹⁶
Peng et al, 2004	Muscle derived ¹⁷
Friedenstein et al, 1968	Bone marrow ¹⁸
Covas et al, 2003	Umbilical Cord ¹⁹
Rodbell et al, 1964	Adipose tissue ¹⁵
Gronthos et al, 2000	Dental Pulp stem cells ²⁰

Autologous mesenchymal stem cells are cornerstone cells most often used in many tissue-engineering applications. Additionally, they appear to be the best choice because of the minimal risks associated with immune-rejection in the host²¹⁻²⁴. MSCs as a cell source for craniofacial tissue engineering, have widely been used in repair and regeneration of tissue in the past few years²⁵. The MSCs are undifferentiated cells with high proliferation rate, capable of giving rise to diverse tissues including bone, cartilage and other tissues of mesenchymal in origin²⁶.

The purpose of present study was to develop an injectable cell- scaffold system for regenerate missing bone in the palatal region.

Source of MSCs	Clinical application of MSC for osteogenesis	Author
Bone marrow	Treatment of bone defects with bone aspirate	Jager et al, 2009 ²⁷
Bone marrow	Treatment of long bone defects with culture-expanded osteoprogenitor cells and HA scaffolds	Marcacci et al, 2007 ²⁸
Bone marrow	Treatment of non-unions with culture expanded marrow cells with macroporous HA scaffolds	Quarto et al, 2001 ²⁹
Bone marrow	Treatment of tumor defect with culture expanded cells in HA scaffold	Morishita et al, 2006 ³⁰
Bone marrow	Jaw rehabilitation with BMP7 and MSCs in HA blocks	Warnke et al, 2004 ³¹
Allogeneic bone marrow	Treatment of osteogenesis imperfecta with allogeneic MSCs	Horwitz et al, 2002 ³²
Bone marrow	Treatment of osteonecrosis with autologous bone marrow grafts	Hernigou et al, 2002 ³³
Adipose tissue	Treatment of osteonecrosis in femoral heads with adipose tissue MSCs, hyaluronic acid, PRP and calcium chloride	Pak et al, 2011 ³⁴
Bone marrow	Treatment of steroid induced osteonecrosis with cultured MSCs in β -TCP ceramic	Kawate et al, 2006 ³⁵
Bone marrow	Bone marrow derived stem cells and PRP in areas of distraction osteogenesis	Kitoh et al, 2004 ³⁶
Bone marrow	Bone marrow stem cells in β -TCP scaffold in spinal fusion treatment	Gan et al, 2008 ³⁷

Tabl	le 1-3	6 Clinical	applications	of MSC	for	osteogenesis.
------	--------	------------	--------------	--------	-----	---------------

HA: Hydroxyapatite, PRP: Platelet rich plasma, β-TCP- beta tricalcium phosphate

1.7 Human Umbilical Cord Derived mesenchymal Stem Cells

Human umbilical cord derived mesenchymal stem cells (HUMSCs) are highly advantageous potential source for cell-based therapies as umbilical cord can be obtained as postnatal tissue that is usually discarded after birth³⁸. Collection of tissue is not an invasive procedure and these cells have a high proliferative capacity³⁹. They possess self-renewal and have multilineage differentiation potential^{40,41}. The UC contains two arteries and one vein, surrounded by a mucoid connective tissue known as Wharton's jelly⁴² (Figure 1-3). HUMSCs are pluripotent, indicating their ability to differentiate into ectodermal, mesodermal or endodermal origin⁴². HUMSCs possess properties of embryonic stem cells and mesenchymal cells^{42,43}. Retaining properties of embryonic stem cells, HUMSCs promise a unique ability of stemness (undifferentiated nature of stem cells) with a potential to evolve into MSCs that have the potential for self-renewal and ability to differentiate into multiple mesenchymal lineages such as adipocytes, chondrocytes and osteocytes⁴². HUMSCs have been used as an autologous source of cells for regenerating a wide variety of tissues of cardiac, osteogenic, chondrogenic and adipogenic origins⁴⁴.



Figure 1-3 Cross-Section of Human Umbilical Cord

1.8 Scaffolds

In cell-based therapies, choosing an appropriate scaffold to deliver the cells is given high priority. Scaffolds that promote cell adhesion; proliferation and migration characterized by biocompatible and biomechanical parameters are essential⁴⁵. Specifically, craniofacial bony defects like cleft palate require appropriate bone substitute scaffold to fill the 3D anatomical defect. The scaffold should have the capacity to carry, deliver and house the cells. Additionally, it should provide a temporary load bearing capacity until the bone is formed⁴⁶. Hydrogel scaffolds are able to mimic natural extracellular matrix of many tissues and are able to form solid constructs that permit homogenous distribution of the cell⁴⁷. Hydrogels offer the convenience of incorporating growth factors and cells prior to injection into the *in vivo* site to enable gel formation⁴⁸. Injectable hydrogels present a novel approach of cell delivery in tissue engineering enabling surgeons to transplant cells in a minimally

invasive way⁴⁹. They are naturally biocompatible, as they do not cause an immune response or inflammatory reaction^{50,51}. These gels are degraded by hydrolysis, action of enzymes and/or dissolution⁵¹. Efficient palatal repair and reduced facial growth distortions in cleft palate patients using hydrogels has been achieved²⁵. Self-assembling peptides are a new class of molecules with the ability to form stable hydrogels and have been used *in-vivo* animal studies for repairing bony defects^{25,52.} Cleft palate defects are irregular and are 3 dimensional. Consequently, a 3D scaffold that mimics the defect while being rigid enough to support cells and flexible to blend into host tissue would be ideal. 3D scaffolds ⁴⁵. Our study intends to use a 3D peptide based hydrogel biomaterial, PuraMatrix, with over 99% water content that can self-assemble into 3D interweaving nanofibres⁵³.

1.9 **PuraMatrix**[™]

PuraMatrix[™] is a liquid self-assembling peptide scaffold that became commercially available in 2001⁵⁴. They are also called self-assembling peptide nanofiber scaffolds (SAPNS) and RADA peptides because of its component Arginine, Aspartic acid and Alanine residues. Under physiologic salt conditions they are known to form nanostructured fibrillar hydrogels⁵³. Nanostructured biomaterials are gaining popularity in regenerative medicine because they mimic natural extracellular matrix in a nano scale⁵⁵. Physical and biological parameters of this scaffold can be modified due to its synthetic nature. Bioactive modifications can be made, which makes it versatile in terms of cell adhesion while increasing its stability⁵⁶. PuraMatrix[™] hydrogel is capable

of both ionic and hydrophobic interactions⁵⁴. These interactions trigger spontaneous self-assembly enabling cell encapsulation and filling in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* applications. We intend to use this property to encapsulate HUMSCs within the PuraMatrix[™] for the purpose of site-specific delivery of cells and growth factors.

1.10 Bone Morphogenic Proteins

Bone morphogenetic proteins are a family of osteoinductive proteins that promote differentiation of mesenchymal cells into osteoblasts and promote neovascularization⁵⁷. Among the 15 identified BMPs, BMP-2 and BMP-7 (i.e., osteogenic protein-1) are now commercially available and have been investigated as an alternative to bone auto grafting in a variety of clinical situations, including spinal fusions, internal fixation of fractures, treatment of bone defects, and reconstruction of maxillofacial conditions⁵⁸⁻⁶². While BMP2 is used widely in many applications, adverse effects such as enhanced bone formation in undesired site⁶³, inflammation⁶⁴ and respiratory distress⁶⁵ have been reported. The conventional use of BMPs for therapeutic applications is to administer large guantities⁶⁶. However, minimal and optimal dosage is essential when it is used for pediatric population. Keeping this in view, the project is intended to investigate an optimal dosage of use of BMP2 while developing a cell based composite scaffold system. In- vitro studies report-using doses of BMP2 ranging from 100- 400ng/ml for osteogenic differentiation with mesenchymal stem cells as cell source⁶⁷. Doses as low as 0.1ng/ml and as high as 1000ng/ml have been used for osteogenic differentiation of Human Marrow Stromal Precursor Cells⁶⁸. HUMSCs have been used for osteogenic differentiation using osteogenic medium, however, they have not been used in

9

combination with BMP2⁶⁹. The aim of this study is to find an optimum dose of BMP2 that can be used for osteogenic differentiation of HUMSCs with Puramatrix[™] as a scaffold system.

1.11 Focus of our research

The current protocol for repair of cleft lip/palate defects involves multiple surgeries to correct both hard and soft tissue defects⁴. Numerous efforts are being made to reduce the incidence of surgical procedures and develop procedures aimed at tissue self-renewal and regeneration⁵¹. Cell based therapies involving osteoinductive growth factors and biocompatible scaffolds with stem cells offer great promise⁷⁰.

Innovation: This study intends to develop a novel procedure using PuraMatrix[™], a new biomaterial that helps serve as synthetic extracellular matrix to support growth and differentiation of cells. This hydrogel scaffold helps organize cells in a 3D architecture and enhances osteogenic differentiation. Our study uses a composite system of HUMSCs as source cells, PuraMatrix[™] as an injectable scaffold in combination with BMP2 as a growth factor. This combination has never been investigated before. Published studies report the use of BMP2 ranging from 100ng/ml to 400ng/ml for osteogenic differentiation of MSCs⁶⁷. Previous literature has reported adverse effects when BMP2 is used clinically. Our aim is to determine an optimum dose of BMP2 for the purpose of osteogenic differentiation in young patients with cleft lip/palate and this *in-vitro* study is the pioneering step in developing an *in-vivo* procedure.

10

1.12 Objectives

The long-term goal of this project is to develop a 3D injectable scaffold for the purpose of bone regeneration in patients with cleft lip and palate defects using HUMSCs and minimal dose of BMP2.

1.13 Specific aims and Hypothesis

1.13.1 Specific Aim #1: Encapsulating HUMSCs in PuraMatrix

The first aim of this study was to investigate the capability of PuraMatrix[™], a 3D selfassembled peptide-based hydrogel, to support osteogenic differentiation of human umbilical cord derived mesenchymal stem cells (HUMSCs).

1.13.2 Specific Aim #2: Effect of BMP2 on Osteogenic differentiation of PuraMatrix[™] encapsulated HUMSCs

The second aim of this study was to assess the effect of different does of BMP2 on osteogenic differentiation of PuraMatrix[™] encapsulated HUMSCs.

1.13.3 Hypothesis

Null Hypothesis Specific Aim 1: PuraMatrix[™] does not support osteogenic differentiation of HUMSCs.

Alternative Hypothesis Specific Aim 1: PuraMatrix[™] supports osteogenic differentiation of HUMSCs.

Null Hypothesis Specific Aim 2: Low doses of BMP2 do not enhance osteogenic differentiation of HUMSCs.

Alternative Hypothesis Specific Aim 2: Low doses of BMP2 enhance osteogenic differentiation of BMP2.

1.14 Location of Study

This study was conducted in Craniofacial Research Center (Room #7391), College of Dental Medicine Nova Southeastern University, Fort Lauderdale, FL 33328.

2 CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials

Human umbilical cord was obtained from NDRI (National Disease Research Interchange, Philadelphia, PA) after Nova Southeastern University's Institutional Review Board approval. Commercially available PuraMatrix[™] hydrogel BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) was used for the study. Mesenchymal stem cell medium was obtained from Sciencell (Carlsbad, CA). Commercially available rhBMP2 (R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN) was used. All other necessary chemicals and lab supplies were obtained from Sigma (St. Louis, MO) and VWR international (Atlanta, GA), respectively.

2.2 Overall study design

Human umbilical cord tissue was obtained from National Disease Research Interchange (NDRI; Philadelphia, PA). HUMSCs were isolated from umbilical cord using explant method. The detailed procedure is discussed in section 2.3.2. Cells isolated from the tissue were cultured and expanded under standard culture conditions. Cells at 70-80% confluency were induced with osteogenic supplements and osteogenic differentiation of HUMSCs was determined by gene expression of various osteogenic differentiation marker genes. Mineral deposition of osteogenically induced cells was confirmed by Alizarin Red and Von kossa staining techniques. Cells were encapsulated in 3D PuraMatrix[™] scaffold and then supplied with CM in one group and OM in other group. Cells were encapsulated in PuraMatrix[™] in different cell concentrations (1x10⁴, 2x10⁴, 4x10⁴ and 8x10⁴ cells/ml). Cell viability was assessed by using live/dead cell assay. Cell proliferation was assessed by WST assay. Cells were encapsulated in PuraMatrix[™] with different concentrations of BMP2 (50ng/ml, 100ng/ml, 200ng/ml) for 1 week. Cells grown in osteogenic medium served as a control. Osteogenesis was determined by gene expression studies, mineralization studies and ALP assay.

2.3 **Isolation protocol**

In this study, we employed both Explant culture and Enzymatic digestion methods for isolating cells from human umbilical cord.

2.3.1 Ethics Statement

This study was conducted in accordance with Nova Southeastern University's institutional review board guidelines to obtain human umbilical cord from NDRI (Philadelphia, PA). Once umbilical cord was obtained, isolation procedure was carried out within 48 hours after collection. We have primarily used explant method to isolate cells from tissue.

2.3.2 Explant method



Figure 2-1 Isolation protocol with Explant method. A- Section of Umbilical Cord before longitudinal incision. B- Removal of vessels from the umbilical cord. C-Explant tissue in culture medium, D- Vessels removed from umbilical cord tissue.

Umbilical cord was cut into 5 cm sections. Umbilical cord was washed with sterile phosphate buffer saline (PBS) to remove blood⁷¹. A longitudinal section was made into the umbilical cord parallel to the umbilical vein to enable visualization of the vessels before removal. Umbilical vessels- 2 umbilical arteries and 1 umbilical vein were dissected and removed completely. 5 cm sections of umbilical cord were placed in a 10 cm² petridish with 5 ml of culture medium (CM-DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% antibiotics) and incubated at 37⁰ C with 5% CO₂. Culture medium was changed every three days. After 5 days, cells were found attached to the surface of the petridish.

Sections of the umbilical cord were discarded and fresh culture medium was added. The cells were then expanded until they reached 70-80% confluence with medium changed twice every week.

2.3.3 Enzymatic Digestion



Figure 2-2 Isolation of HUMSCs using Enzymatic Digestion.

After removal of umbilical vessels, umbilical cord was cut into pieces each measuring approximately 2 cms. Tissue was washed with PBS. The tissue was further minced and kept for digestion in 0.1mg per ml type I collagenase and 2mg/ml dispase at 37° C with continuous shaking for one hour. Cell suspension with enzyme solution was collected and enzyme digestion was continued for the remaining tissues. The cell suspensions were pooled and centrifuged at 900 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was suspended in culture medium (Dulbecco's Modified Eagles medium- DMEM, Fetal Bovine Serum- FBS, Penicillin 1%, Streptomycin 1%) and cultured for further expansion in a 37° C humidified environment with 5% CO₂⁷².

2.4 Cell Culture

HUMSCs were cultured in monolayers in T75 flasks with Mesenchymal Stem Cell Medium (MSCM). The cells were fed with fresh medium every 2-3 days. Cultures were propagated at 37 °C under humidified conditions using 5% CO₂. Cells with 70-80% confluency were treated with trypsin to dislodge from the flask and plated again until 3rd passage. Cells from passage 3 or 4 were used in this study.



Figure 2-3 Incubator, B and C- Cell culture in T75 flask.

2.5 Characterization of HUMSCs

In order to verify the mesenchymal origin, HUMSCs must meet several criteria set forth by the International Society for Cellular Therapy⁷³. The mesenchymal origin of HUMSC's was confirmed by their plastic adherence, observation of fibroblastic phenotype under light microscope, differentiation capacity to osteogenic lineage *in vitro* and by surface marker expression.

2.5.1 Flow Cytometry surface marker analysis

All flow cytometry experiment procedures were performed in University of Miami. Passage 3 or Passage 4 cells after attaining sub-confluence were used. Cells at the concentration of 10⁶ cells were used to measure the surface markers using Miltenyi Kit according to manufacturer's instruction. The specific markers positive for mesenchymal stem CD73, CD90 and CD105 and negative for CD34 were identified at the facilities at University of Miami using a fluorescent activated cell sorter FACAria IIIu (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) with adjusted florescence compensation setting. Negative samples were used to set up the thresholds of quadrant markers.

2.5.2 Osteogenic Differentiation

The monolayer cultures were grown in culture medium (CM) consisting of DMEM, 10% FBS and 1% antibiotics. The cells at 70-80% confluency were replaced with growth medium supplemented with osteogenic reagents, which include 50mM ascorbic acid and 10mM of β -glycerophosphate and 100nM dexamethasone. The osteogenic differentiation was measured at 1 week, 2 weeks and 3 weeks intervals. Osteogenic differentiation potential of HUMSCs was determined by measurement of ALP activity, gene expression studies, western blotting and mineralization studies. The osteogenic potential of HUMSCS induced with osteogenic medium will be compared with the cells grown in CM.

18

2.5.2.1 Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP) Activity Assay

Cells at 70-80% confluency were trypsinized and plated in 6 well plate at 60X10³ cells per well. Cells grown with or without osteogenic medium were collected from each well at different time points (1, 2 and 3 weeks) and lysed with m-per mammalian protein extraction reagent (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). ALP activity was measured by a pNPP assay (Sciencell, Carlsbad, CA) according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 15µL of cell lysate was placed in a 96 well plate and 35 µL of alkaline reaction buffer was added to each well followed by 5µL of pNPP substrate and the cells were incubated at 37°C for 30 minutes and pNPP production was measured by a microplate reader at 405 nm. The ALP activity of cells grown in OM was compared with cells grown in CM.

2.5.2.2 RNA Isolation, reverse transcription and Polymerase Chain Reaction

mRNA expression of ALP, Osteoprotegrin, Osteopontin and Collagen Type I was measured at 1, 2 and 3 weeks for cells grown with or without osteogenic supplements. Cells were cultured in t-25 flasks and total RNA was extracted using TRIzol method (Ambion, Carlsbad, CA) (Figure 2-6). RNA was quantified by using smart spec spectrophotometer (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). RNA was reverse transcribed and cDNA was synthesized using high capacity reverse transcriptase kit (Life Technology, Carlsbad, CA) according to manufacturer's instructions. Osteogenic marker genes ALP, Osteopontin and Osteoprotegrin were assessed at 7-day interval using Q semiquantitative PCR (Biorad, Hercules, CA) using specific primers (Table 2-1). The

19
PCR products were separated by 2% agarose gel and the relative density was measured using a densitometry analysis.

Gene	Sequence
Col I (sense)	5'-ctgaccttcctgcgcctgatgtcc-3'
Col I (antisense)	5'-gtctggggcaccaacgtccaaggg-3
ALP (sense)	5'-ccacgtcttcacatttggtg-3'
ALP (antisense)	5'-agactgcgcctggtagttgt-3'
OPN (sense)	5'-tgaaacgagtcagctggatg-3'
OPN (antisense)	5'-tgaaattcatggctgtggaa-3'
beta-actin (sense)	5'-catgtacgttgctatccaggc-3'
beta-actin (antisense)	5'-ctccttaatgtcacgcacgat-3'

 Table 2-1 Specific Primers Table

2.5.2.3 Mineralization Assays

Alizarin red and Von Kossa staining was performed in order to analyze matrix mineralization.

2.5.2.4 Alizarin Red Stain

Cells were plated in a 12 well plate. Osteogenesis was induced on day 3 using OM. A quantitative Alizarin red S method was used at the end of 1, 2 and 3 weeks. Briefly the cells were fixed with 10% formalin followed by staining with 2% Alizarin red S solution (Sigma- Aldrich) for 20 minutes. Cells were photographed under the microscope.

2.5.2.5 Von Kossa stain

To determine the presence of phosphate based mineral, cells were stained with 2% silver nitrate (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO) solution for 1 hour under bright light. The reaction was stopped by adding the developing solution, viz. 1% sodium thiosulphate (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO) for 1 min. Sections were counterstained with 0.5%

nuclear fast red (Sigma, Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and dehydrated in saline and mounted with DPX and observed under phase contrast microscope (Olympus, XI 50).

2.6 Encapsulating HUMSCs in 3D peptide hydrogel scaffold PuraMatrix[™]

PuraMatrix[™] from BD Biosciences was assembled using CM following manufacturer protocol in a 24 well plate. The cells were suspended in 20% sterile sucrose solution that was previously autoclaved. The cells suspended in sucrose solution were encapsulated in 0.2% Puramatrix [™]. Commercial PuraMatrix[™] is available at a concentration of 1%. It was further diluted with sucrose solution to prepare 0.2% gel. Cell seeding densities were 1x10⁴ HUMSCs in monolayer 2D culture. And increasing cell concentrations of 100x10³, 200x10³, 400x10³ and 800x10³ were used per well for encapsulation in PuraMatrix[™]. For Cell viability assays 50µL of PuraMatrix[™] was used. Cells mixed with 50µL of PuraMatrix[™] were slowly dropped into 150µl of culture medium. And the cell- gel constructs were incubated in 37[°]C at 5% CO₂.



Figure 2-4 A- Commercially available PuraMatrix[™], B and C- Injectable hydrogel PuraMatrix[™].

2.7 Cell Viability and Proliferation of HUMSCs in 3D PuraMatrix[™] Culture

In order to assess cell viability and proliferation, WST and Live-Dead assay were performed respectively.

2.7.1 WST Assay

Cells were encapsulated at 100x10³, 200x10³, 400x10³, 800x10³ per well in a 96 well plate. 50µL of 0.2% PuraMatrix[™] was used per each well. In order to prepare cell-gel constructs, 200 µl of growth medium was placed in each well of the plate. Cells suspended in 0.2% gel were slowly released into the growth medium. After 30 minutes of incubation at 37°C, growth medium was replaced and cells were fed with new growth medium and gelation was examined under microscope. Cell proliferation was assessed

by addition of WST-1 (2-4-iosophenyl)-3-4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4 disulfophenyl)-2Htetrazolium, monosodium salt) reagent to a 1:10 final concentration. WST-1 cell proliferation assay (Roche, Indianapolis, IN, USA) is a mitochondrial activity assay. WST reagent is a soluble tetrazolium salt that can react with metabolically active cells and gives a deep red color. The cell-gel constructs were finally incubated at 37^oC with 5% CO₂. The assay was conducted after 72 hours of incubation and the absorbance was measured using micro-plate reader (Figure 2-5). The cell viability was measured and compared.



Figure 2-5 Cells encapsulated in PuraMatrix[™] for WST assay.

2.7.2 Live Dead Cell Assay

Cell viability of the HUMSCs in PuraMatrix[™] was also confirmed by a Live/Dead cell assay (Molecular Probes, Carlsbad, CA). Cells at 100x10³, 200x10³, 400x103, 800x10³ were encapsulated in 0.2% Puramatrix[™]. Cell proliferation was examined after 72 hours of incubation using a Live-Dead cell assay kit (Life Technology, Carlsbad, CA) according to manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, the cells encapsulated in PuraMatrix[™] gel

was washed twice with PBS and Live/Dead cell stain was added. Live/Dead cell assay kit was provided with two molecular probes, calcein AM and ethidium homodimer-1 (Eth-D). These probes were used for simultaneous visualization of the live cells and dead cells. Live cells emit Green Fluorescence, when calcein AM enters the cells and is hydrolyzed to calcein by intracellular esterase. Eth-D 1 enters into nucleic acids to produce bright red Fluorescence that indicates dead cells. The 2µm ethidium homodimer-1 and 2µm calcein AM was reconstituted in PBS. Cells were incubated at 37^oC for 30 minutes. Micrographs were then taken using a fluorescent microscope (Olympus IX 51) equipped with a digital camera (Olympus XC 30).

2.7.3 Cell-Gel Constructs - Osteogenic differentiation

PuraMatrixTM in combination with stem cells can induce osteogenic differentiation in the presence of osteogenic supplements⁷⁴. Medium was replenished every 3-4 days. For differentiation assays 24- well plates were used. Cells suspended in 20% of sterile sucrose (120 μ L) with 80 μ L of 1% PuraMatrixTM and dropped slowly into growth medium in which the scaffold can self-assemble to acquire gel morphology. The gelation was observed under microscope. Gene expression of osteogenic markers was investigated using RT-PCR and matrix mineralization was monitored after one week.

2.8 BMP2 treatment and cell seeding on to scaffolds

Cells were suspended and were loaded onto the scaffolds as previously described in the encapsulation section. Briefly, a total of 2 x 10^6 cells were seeded in a drop wise manner in the PuraMatrixTM solution and the cell-scaffold insert was placed in each well

of 24-well culture plates and allowed to solidify. The cells in the scaffold were provided with 1ml of culture medium and incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Osteogenic medium containing increasing concentrations of BMP2 50ng/ml, 100ng/ml and 200ng/ml was introduced on the third day. The cell-scaffold inserts were replenished with fresh medium every 48 hours. The cell-scaffold insert supplemented with osteogenic medium only was considered as control group. Experiments were performed for osteogenic induction and mineralization. All experiments were repeated at least three times.



Figure 2-6 BMP2 treatment of cells encapsulated in PuraMatrix[™].

2.9 Osteogenic Differentiation

2.9.1 Gene Expression

Cells were plated in T-25 flasks in culture medium (CM). Osteogenic medium was introduced on day 3. Medium was changed twice each week for 2 weeks. Quantitative real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction was used to analyze the expression of osteogenic genes. Total RNA was isolated from cells at the end of 1 and

2 week time-points using RNeasy Mini kit following manufacturer's instruction. The concentration of RNA was determined by spectrophotometer. RNA was reverse transcribed and cDNA was synthesized. Osteogenic marker genes ALP, Osteopontin and Osteoprotegrin were assessed at 7-day interval using Quantitative PCR (Step–One plus Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) using specific primers (Table 2-1). Expression levels were determined by using 2-ΔΔCt methods.



Figure 2-7 Steps involved in RNA isolation

2.9.2 Statistical Analysis

Data was expressed as mean ± standard deviation (SD) of at least three independent samples. Statistical comparisons between groups were performed with a two tailed student's t-test, P< 0.05 was considered as significant.

3 CHAPTER 3 RESULTS

3.1 Characterization of HUMSCs

Cells were extracted from the Wharton's jelly region of the umbilical cord using both Explant and Enzymatic digestion methods. We preferred the explant method due to ease of processing. We obtained more cell yield from the Explant method. Isolated cells demonstrated a fibroblast- like phenotype when observed under light microscope ⁷⁵.



Figure 3-1 A- Cells after plating B- Fibroblastic phenotype of HUMSCs

The cells obtained from explant culture or enzyme digestion of umbilical cord fragments were seeded on to a T75 flask at a density of 0.5×10^6 . Fig 3-1 shows cells after plating. After 24 hours the cell morphology was observed under phase contrast microscopy. Adherent cells demonstrated typical fibroblast morphology (Fig 3-2). This represented the 100% of harvest efficiency. The cells reached confluency 4 days after plating.



Figure 3-2 A- Cells 2 days after plating, B- Cells at confluence after 4 days

3.1.1 Immunophenotype of HUMSCs

For all experiments cells from passage 3 to passage 5 were used. HUMSCs must meet certain criteria as defined by the International Society for Cellular Therapy⁷³. Mesenchymal origin of HUMSCs in this study was confirmed by their plastic adherence, fibroblastic phenotype, surface marker expression and their ability to differentiate into osteogenic lineages *in-vitro*. Flow cytometric analysis of HUMSCs after passage 3 demonstrated that cells were 90% positive for surface markers CD73, CD90, CD105 and negative for hematopoietic marker CD34. Results verify the mesenchymal origin of HUMSCs and the lack of hematopoietic markers (Figure 3-3).



Figure 3-3 Flow Cytometry Data showing surface marker of MSCs

3.1.2 Osteogenic Differentiation of HUMSCs

Osteogenic differentiation potential of monolayer HUMSCs was assessed by using passage 3 to passage 5 cells. Cells in culture medium (CM) were considered as control group and cells in osteogenic medium as experimental group. The osteogenic differentiation was monitored at 1, 2 and 3 weeks. Osteogenic differentiation was determined by ALP activity assay, gene expression and mineralization studies using Alizarin Red and Von Kossa stain.

3.1.2.1 ALP activity

Alkaline phosphatase is an early marker for osteogenic differentiation. Our results showed significant increase of ALP activity (15%) at the end of 1 week in OM group compared to CM group. There was a significant increase (>45%) in OM group compared to control group at 2 weeks. The enhancement of ALP activity of OM group was at its peak at day 14 (P=0.027) than at day 7. Although there is significant increase in ALP activity when compared to cells grown in culture medium, the cells showed more than 30% decrease in ALP activity at the end of 3 weeks.





3.1.2.2 Gene Expression

Gene expression of osteogenic lineage was assessed by semi quantitative PCR. Osteoblast specific genes Alkaline phosphatase (ALP), Osteoprotegrin (OPG), Collagen type I (Col1), Osteopontin (OPN) were assessed at 1, 2 and 3 weeks intervals. B actin served as endogenous control. The results indicated that ALP gene expression upregulated at 1 and 2 weeks. The peak up regulation was observed at 14th day. On the other hand, Collagen type I started up regulating from week 1 and continued until 3 weeks.



Figure 3-5 Gene expression showing upregulation of osteogenic genes ALP, OPG, Col I and OPN. B-Actin was used as an endogenous control.

3.1.2.3 Mineralization studies with Alizarin Red and Von Kossa stains

Matrix mineralization with calcium and phosphate is a late indicator of osteogenesis and maturation of osteoblasts. Calcium deposits were discerned using Alizarin Red stain. There was a significant increase in calcium deposits at the end of 3 weeks for cells in OM compared to cells in control group with CM. Matrix mineralization for phosphate deposits was determined by von Kossa staining technique.



Figure 3-6 A- Alizarin red staining in CM after 4 weeks. B- Alizarin red staining in OM after 4 weeks.



Figure 3-7 Von Kossa Staining of cells, A- Cells in control group CM at 4 weeks, B- Cells in OM at 4 weeks, B- Cells in OM at 8 weeks.

3.2 Cell morphology of cells encapsulated in PuraMatrix[™]

Hydrogels containing HUMSCs were observed under phase contrast view of Olympus IX 51 (Center Valley, PA). Figure 3-8 A shows cells encapsulated in PuraMatrixTM. Cells were spherical immediately after encapsulation and cell growth was observed within 24 hours. The cells attained spindle shaped after 24 hours (Fig 3-8 B). On day 3, cells started forming a network (Fig 3-9 A). At higher concentrations, cell aggregate formation was observed in PuraMatrixTM gels (Fig 3-10). Cell survival and proliferation was examined by WST assay and Live Dead Cell assay.



Figure 3-8 A- 100K cells in PuraMatrix[™] on Day 0, B- 100K cells in PuraMatrix[™] on Day 1.



Figure 3-9 A- 100K cells in PuraMatrix[™] on day 3, B- 100K cells in PuraMatrix[™] on day 4 showing cellular interconnections.



Figure 3-10 800K cells in PuraMatrix[™] on day 10.

3.3 Cell proliferation and viability in PuraMatrix[™]

WST and Live- Dead Assay as described below assessed cell proliferation and viability.

3.3.1 WST assay

Cell proliferation was observed by seeding cells in different concentrations. Cells were encapsulated at a density from 100×10^3 to 800×10^3 cells per well in a 96 well plate. Cell proliferation was assessed after 72-hour time point. Cells survived at all concentrations, however, survival rate was higher at 100×10^3 and 200×10^3 . There was slight decrease in cell viability of cells with increase in cell number (Fig 3-11).



Figure 3-11 Cell proliferation with WST Assay.

3.3.2 Live dead cell assay

The results of live dead cell assay demonstrated that cells were viable at all concentrations at 72 hours. The cells encapsulated at higher densities showed clustered structures. Figure 3-12 to 3-14 show cells at various densities. Cells at all concentrations showed a typical spindle shaped structure 3 days post seeding. Overall results demonstrated that cells are viable at all concentrations.



Figure 3-12 A- Live cells in PuraMatrix[™] at 100K concentration, B- Live cells in PuraMatrix[™] at 100K concentration.



Figure 3-13 Live cells in PuraMatrix[™] at 400K concentration, inset picture shows cells growth in PuraMatrix[™] gel.



Figure 3-14 A- Live cells in PuraMatrix[™] at 800K concentration, B- Cells in PuraMatrix[™] at 800K concentration displaying 1 dead cell.

3.4 Osteogenic differentiation of cells in PuraMatrix[™]

Osteogenic differentiation of cells was determined by ALP gene expression as described below.

3.4.1 Gene expression

Gene Expression was monitored during the crucial early period of osteogenic differentiation. A cell seeding density of 8x10⁵ in 200µL gel in a 24 well plate was used. ALP gene expression of cell-gel constructs grown in osteogenic medium was compared with cell-gel constructs in culture medium on day 7 using Quantitative PCR method. ALP expression showed a 2-fold upregulation in OM cell-gel constructs compared to cell-gel constructs in culture medium used as control.





3.5 Effect of BMP2 on HUMSCS encapsulated in PuraMatrix[™]

Cell-gel constructs induced with increasing concentration of BMP2 were compared with cell-gel constructs in osteogenic medium. Cell- gel constructs in osteogenic medium were considered as control. The mRNA expression of ALP displayed gradual upregulation with increasing concentration. A 2-fold enhancement in ALP mRNA expression was evident at 100ng/ml of BMP2. However, there was a gradual decrease at 200ng/ml. A significant upregulation was noted at all concentrations of BMP2 compared to cell-gel constructs induced with osteogenic medium alone.



Figure 3-16 Significant expression of ALP gene in BMP2 induced cell-gel constructs compared to cell-gel constructs in OM.

4 CHAPTER 4 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

4.1 Discussion

Current procedures for the repair of critical size bone defects such as cleft palate rely on various bone grafting methods. Emergence of stem cell based tissue engineering strategies is recognized as a promising source to regenerate biological tissue substitutes for critical size bony defects⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸. The objective of the proposed study was to develop an injectable cell-growth factor-scaffold system for repair of bony defects. In this study, HUMSCs were used as cell source, commercially available hydrogel, PuramatrixTM, was used as a scaffold and growth factor BMP2 was utilized as osteogenic inducer. First part of this study focused on the isolation and characterization of HUMSCs. Furthermore, HUMSCs were cultured in a 3-dimensional peptide scaffold and investigated for their osteogenic differentiation.

Human umbilical cord is a potential source of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) that are developmentally primitive, highly proliferative with potential to differentiate along mesenchymal lineages^{22,79}. Recent evidence demonstrated their potential to form bone⁸⁰. Isolation of MSCs from distinct parts of the umbilical cord and use of different methods for isolation has been reported^{38,44,81-83}. In this study, we have isolated MSCs from Wharton's Jelly region using two different methods - explant culture and enzymatic digestion. In explant cultures, the cells aroused from the tissue after one week and were confluent within 10 days. Enzymatic digestion resulted in successful isolation; nevertheless, the cell yield was low when compared with explant culture in our study. In

contrast, many authors have reported a high yield of cells after enzymatic digestion⁸⁴. The low yield may be due to inappropriate digestion. Isolated cells exhibited fibroblastic morphology. Furthermore, isolated HUMSCs satisfied the criteria set forth by the International Society for Cellular Therapy in terms of plastic adherence, fibroblastic phenotype and differentiation into osteoblastic lineage. Immunophenotyping involves the detection of surface antigen on cells. The flow cytometry results revealed that they were positive for CD73, CD105, CD90 and negative for CD34. CD73, CD105 and CD90 are specific for mesenchymal cells⁷³. In agreement with other studies, we found that 90% cells exhibited mesenchymal stem cell property.

In this study, HUMSCs obtained from passage 3 to 5 were used for all experiments. Researchers have reported that early passage cultures are needed to conduct the preclinical study as the MSCs gradually lose their proliferation capacity after several passages²². The advantages of using HUMSCs include their rapid proliferation rate and ability to expand over 7 passages without losing differentiation potential⁶⁹.

Mesenchymal stem cells are able to differentiate into osteoblasts under appropriate stimuli. Several genes and proteins are upregulated during osteogenic differentiation. Of the several osteogenic markers, most remarkable ones are ALP, Osteopontin, Osteocalcin and Collagen type I. Several assays such as ALP activity, gene expression and mineralization studies were conducted to detect osteogenic differentiation in the current study. ALP activity assay is a commonly accepted biochemical marker assay for osteogenic differentiation. ALP is a metalloenzyme that is tissue specific encoded by separate genes⁸⁵. ALP is important for hard tissue formation because it increases the

local concentration of inorganic phosphates, a phenomenon postulated as the 'booster hypothesis.'⁸⁶ ALP expression marks the success of osteogenesis because it inevitably leads to the formation of mineralization^{87,88}. ALP activity in cells is primarily low but as osteogenic differentiation progresses; the progenitor cells undergo differentiation towards matrix maturation. ALP activity continues to increase during this process and finally decreases when osteoblasts turn into osteocytes⁸⁹⁻⁹¹. Our results demonstrate similar pattern, the levels of ALP increased gradually with maximum increase on day 14 and a significant decrease on day 21. Gene expressions of ALP, Collagen type 1 and Osteopontin (OPN) were significantly increased at all-time points (1, 2 and 3 weeks) as well. Furthermore, HUMSCs have demonstrated ability to differentiate along osteogenic lineages which was confirmed by Von Kossa and Alizarin red staining

In this study, commercially available hydrogel scaffold PuraMatrix[™] was used to encapsulate HUMSCs. PuraMatrix[™] is a peptide hydrogel that has been used for multiple applications ranging from bone, cartilage⁹², vascular⁹³, neural⁹⁴ to dental pulp tissue engineering⁷⁴. It's unique features of self-assembly, injectability, nanofibre structure enables the cell attachment, migration and permeation of nutrients^{95,96,97}. These properties of the scaffold can minimize surgical procedures and reduce scar formation⁹⁸.

Data from WST and Live-Dead cell assay showed that HUMSCs encapsulated in PuraMatrixTM survived at all cell density ranges. However, cells at 200×10^3 was the most suitable concentration. Although, there was no statistically significant decrease, there was a decrease in the cell number as observed at 400 - 800×10^3 cells. Our

results are in agreement with the results of Cavalcanti et al⁷⁴. Growth of dental pulp derived stem cells stopped at 800x 10^3 in this study⁷⁴, on the other hand, our results show approximately 1% cell death 10 days after seeding. However, cells were able to migrate within the gel while maintaining spindle shaped structure with network formation. Our results indicate that 0.2% PuraMatrix[™] is ideal concentration for cell encapsulation and growth. Previously it has been reported that 1% PuraMatrixTM forms a mechanically stable gel, nevertheless it was not suitable for cell survival⁷⁴. Ability of osteogenic differentiation of cells encapsulated in PuraMatrixTM was investigated in this study. Cells encapsulated in PuraMatrix[™] grown in culture medium (CM) were compared with the cells encapsulated in PuraMatrix[™] induced with osteogenic differentiation medium (OM). Within one week of induction, a significant increase of over 2-fold was elicited for cells in OM compared to cells in CM. Chen J et al reported a periodic increase in the ALP gene expression⁹⁹. The limitation of our study is a lack of data on comparison of osteogenic potential of 2D cultures compared to cells in PuraMatrix[™] in complete medium.

The second part of this study focused on optimizing growth factor concentration. In bone tissue engineering strategies, growth factor remains one of the important components.

Author	Cell source	Growth factor/Scaffold used	Significance		
Chung et al ¹⁰⁰ , 2007	Critical size defect in rats.	rhBMP-2- 200ng with Heparin functionalized nanoparticles in PLGA scaffold.	Heparin nanoparticles with VEGF for bone formation.		
Luu et al ¹⁰¹ , 2006	Pre-osteoblast progenitors cells.	Adenoviral vectors express BMPs.	BMP2, 6 and 9 are most osteogenic.		
Rickard et al ¹⁰² , 1993	Rat marrow cells.	10 ⁻⁸ dexamethasone (dex), Vitamin D and BMP2.	rhBMP2 and dex yield high ALP activity and increased osteoblastic mRNAs. Undifferentiated cells retain capacity to differentiate on further exposure to inducers.		
Fan et al ¹⁰³ ,2013	Adipose derived stem cells of mice.	Chitosan, chondroitin sulfate and apatite layer with controlled release of BMP2.	Osteogenic induction with noggin suppression and addition of exogenous BMP2.		
Alsberg ¹⁰⁴ et al, 2002	Cotransplantation of rat calvarial osteoblasts, bovine articular chondrocytes in SCID mice.	MVG alginate hydrogel.	Cotransplantation of cells with cell adhesion ligands to engineer bone tissue that grew by endochondral ossification similar to long- bone growth.		
Young et al ¹⁰⁵ , 2009	VEGF and BMP2.	VEGF and BMP2 in Porous poly (propylene fumarate) scaffolds with gelatin microparticles.	BMP2 has more sustained release profile compared to VEGF. Decreasing amounts of BMP2 while increasing levels of VEGF does not increase percentage bone formation significantly.		

Table 4-1 BMP2 application in cell based therapy

VEGF- Vascular endothelial growth factor, SCID- Severe Combined Immunodeficiency,

PLGA- Poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid).

BMP2 is the leading osteoinductive growth factor used for bone regeneration currently. Table 4.1 lists several clinical applications of BMP2. The Food and Drug Administration has approved the use of INFUSE bone graft material for anterior and lumbar interbody fusion and open tibial fractures^{106,107}. However, BMP2 use in supraphysiological doses for these clinical applications has resulted in adverse effects ranging from ectopic bone formation¹⁰⁸, spinal cord impingement¹⁰⁹, bone resorption¹¹⁰ and life threatening

cervical swelling^{65,111}. Our aim was to find an optimum dose of BMP2, specifically for use in pediatric population.

Our study showed that BMP2 significantly enhanced osteogenic differentiation of HUMSCs compared to osteogenic medium. At a concentration of 100ng/ml, a peak expression of ALP mRNA was noted. There was more than two fold increase in ALP mRNA expression with 100ng/ml but this increase showed a decline at 200ng/ml. However, there was no significant difference between the doses of 50ng/ml, 100ng/ml and 200ng/ml in terms of ALP mRNA expression. This suggests that lower doses of BMP2 are equally effective in enhancing osteogenic differentiation of HUMSCs. PuraMatrix[™] as a scaffold promotes osteogenic regeneration¹¹². Results from Hanada et al showed that at 50ng/ml concentration BMP2 treatment alone showed a slight increase in ALP activity in bone marrow stem cells, whereas the effect was significant when it was used in combination with Fibroblast growth factor (FGF)¹¹³. The high doses of BMP2 (20mg/ml) induced osteogenic differentiation in bone marrow cells of Beagle¹¹⁴. Recently, Zachos et al investigated the feasibility of using BMP2 in a 3 dimensional model¹¹⁵. The results of the study indicated that BMP2 could be delivered using alginate as carrier system. However, the results of previous studies demonstrated either high doses or use of BMP2 synergistically with other growth factors. In contrast, our results indicate that 1) BMP2 can induce osteogenic differentiation in presence of a 3D culture model 2) BMP2 enhanced osteogenic differentiation with concentrations as low as 50ng/ml. In summary, our results indicate

that minimal doses of BMP2 are sufficient when used in an appropriate 3D scaffold system.

4.2 Conclusion

PuraMatrix[™] with HUMSCs and BMP2 is a viable composite system for osteogenic regeneration of bony defects. This composite system requires lower doses of BMP2 thus minimizing potential adverse affects reported from using higher doses of BMP2. As this system is injectable into the *in vivo* site it will reduce the number of surgeries and the incidence of scar formation. Future research involves incorporating BMP2 within the scaffold for site-specific delivery and to minimize its absorption systemically.

5 APPENDIX

Southern Association of $O_{RTHODONTISTS}$
Fostering the Ethical Delivery of Quality Orthodontic Care 32 Lenox Pointe NE Atlanta, GA 30324-3169 Phones 900 261 5529 or 404 261 5529
Fax: 404.261.6856 e-mail: <u>shunt@saortho.org</u>
May 16, 2013
Dear Dr. Lakshmana,
The SAO is pleased to inform you that the Scientific Affairs committee has selected your research project for partial funding in the amount of \$1071.00. A check will be mailed to Dr. Lifshitz within the next few days.
For your information, we received 16 requests for funding in the amount of \$35,257.00. Our budget was \$9000.00
As a recipient of SAO Research Funds, we would appreciate receiving confirmation that the funds provided will be used for the research described in your proposal. Also, we would appreciate receiving a summary (e.g. abstract) of the research results as of the end of the project, if possible to validate the value of the Scientific Affairs program.
We appreciate the time and effort you put into selecting and preparing for your research project and wish you the best in the future.
Congratulations and good luck.
Sincerely,
Sharon Hunt
Sharon Hunt Executive Director

Figure 6-1 SAO Grant Award in support of this project.

6 RAW DATA

2	1		*	4	5	. (↓ Sear	ch in Sheet			
1	A Hon	ne Lay	out T	ables	Charts	Smart	Art	Formulas	Data	>>	~ 1
Ec	dit :		Font		Alignment	Nun	nber	Form	at :	Cells	1
Ê		Arial	Ŧ	10 🔻	=.	General	•	*	-	-	A
Pa	ste	BI	U 🔗	• <u>A</u> •	Align	*	% ,	Conditional Formatting	Styles	Actions	The
	T21		00	(fx							
_1	A	В	C	D	E	F	G	Н	1	J	
1	1										
2			_	Control	1 Week	Control	2 Weeks	Control	3 Weeks		_
3	<u> </u>		20	100	115.2	100	145.2	100	113.72		
4	<u>.</u>		Bushus	0	D=0.0065	U	14.0	U	3.00 D=0.0164		
5			P value	14 14	P=0.0000		P=0.0003		P=0.0104		-
7				17 2		1.1 2.			12		
8	1	_							1		
9			0		Control	100					
10				1	1 Week	115.2	1				
11	3	11			Control	100			10 i .		
12	1		2	0.0	2 Weeks	145.2					
13			8	121 12	Control	100					
14					3 Weeks	113.72					
15	3		2	Second and							
16			- C	1 week			2 weeks			3 weeks	
17	3	P Value	S	0.0065		P Value	0.0083		P Value	0.0164	
18	2		2 5	12 100000		_		100000			
19	-					P value be	tween 2 an	d 3 weeks	0.015		
20			Dumbus	d work and	0 weeks	0.0007			-		-
22	-	-	Pvalue	1 week and	2 Weeks	0.0027					
22			Between								
23		1	D unline he	human 1 was	k and 3 we	ake 0 855	1000 C				-
24	-	-	P VIIIUO DO	woon 1 woo	k and 5 wee	010 0.000					

Figure 6-1 ALP activity of HUMSCs in control CM and experimental group OM

2	*		* % 🖻	1	. .	Q.	Search in	Sheet) >>
•	Home	Layout	Tables	Chart	s SmartA	rt	Formulas	Data	Review	1 1	¢
Edi	1	Font		Alignme	nt Numbe	er	Form	at	Cells	Then	nes
Past	te Cali	bri (Body)	• 8 • <u>A</u> • <u>A</u> •	Align	• General	• •	Conditional Formatting	Styles	Actions	Aa •••••• Themes	Aa
	C7	: 8	🔘 (= fx								-
4	A	B	C D		E	F	G	H	1	J	=
3											0
4											
5											
6					Mean Absorbance	SI	0				
7			100,	000	2.701	0.0	5				
8			200,	000	2.8	0.0	8				
9			400,	000	2.33	0.0	3				
10			800,	000	2.5	0.1	6				
11											
12											

1	A Home	Layo	ut Table	s Cha	arts	SmartArt	>> ^		
Ec	dit :		Font	Aligr	nment :	Number	-		
Arial • 10 • General									
Pa	Paste B I U A Align S v % S Co								
	14	\$	80(fx					
	A	В	C	D	E	F	G		
1									
2									
3		Mean	1.483	2.083	1.55				
- 4		SD	0.08	0.54	0.20				
5									
6		P value	0.0085	P= 0.0043	0.0124				
7									
8									
9									
10									
11			PM OM	1	0				
12			BMP2 50ng	1.483	0.08				
13			BMP2 100ng	2.083	0.54				
14			BMP2 200ng	1.55	0.2				
15									
16									
17									

Figure 6-2 Mean absorbance values of WST assay

Figure 6-3 ALP activity of HUMSCs in PuraMatrix[™] in BMP2

7 BIBLIOGRAPHY

1. Zuk PA. Tissue engineering craniofacial defects with adult stem cells? Are we ready yet? *Pediatric research.* May 2008;63(5):478-486.

2. Sapp JP. Contemporary Oral and Maxillofacial Pathology. 2004.

3. Committee O, Committee CA, Council R, Affairs CoC. Policy on Management of Patients with Cleft Lip/ Palate and Other Craniofacial Anomalies. *REFERENCE MANUAL*. 2008,2009,2012;35(6):13-14.

4. Steinberg B, Caccamese J, Jr., Padwa BL. Cleft and craniofacial surgery. *Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery : official journal of the American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons.* Nov 2012;70(11 Suppl 3):e137-161.

5. Rychlik D, Wojcicki P, Kozlik M. Osteoplasty of the alveolar cleft defect. *Advances in clinical and experimental medicine : official organ Wroclaw Medical University.* Mar-Apr 2012;21(2):255-262.

6. Farronato G, Kairyte L, Giannini L, Galbiati G, Maspero C. How various surgical protocols of the unilateral cleft lip and palate influence the facial growth and possible orthodontic problems? Which is the best timing of lip, palate and alveolus repair? Literature review. *Stomatologija / issued by public institution "Odontologijos studija"* ... *[et al.].* 2014;16(2):53-60.

7. Precious DS, Goodday RH, Morrison AD, Davis BR. Cleft lip and palate: a review for dentists. *Journal (Canadian Dental Association).* Dec 2001;67(11):668-673.

8. Losquadro WD, Tatum SA. Direct gingivoperiosteoplasty with palatoplasty. *Facial plastic surgery : FPS.* May 2007;23(2):140-145.

9. Jeyaraj P, Sahoo NK, Chakranarayan A. Mid versus late secondary alveolar cleft grafting using iliac crest corticocancellous bone graft. *Journal of maxillofacial and oral surgery.* Jun 2014;13(2):195-207.

10. DeLuke DM, Marchand A, Robles EC, Fox P. Facial growth and the need for orthognathic surgery after cleft palate repair: literature review and report of 28 cases. *Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery : official journal of the American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons.* Jul 1997;55(7):694-697; discussion 697-698.

11. Pritsch T, Bickels J, Wu CC, Squires HM, Malawer MM. The risk for fractures after curettage and cryosurgery around the knee. *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*. May 2007;458:159-167.

12. Mroz TE, Lin EL, Summit MC, et al. Biomechanical analysis of allograft bone treated with a novel tissue sterilization process. *The spine journal : official journal of the North American Spine Society.* Jan-Feb 2006;6(1):34-39.

13. Meyer-Marcotty P, Gerdes AB, Reuther T, Stellzig-Eisenhauer A, Alpers GW. Persons with cleft lip and palate are looked at differently. *Journal of dental research*. Apr 2010;89(4):400-404.

14. Proffit WR, Fields, H W, Sarver, D M, Ackerman, J L. Contemporary Orthodontics, 5th Edition. Mosby, 2013.

. Linda Duncan; 2013.

15. Rodbell M. METABOLISM OF ISOLATED FAT CELLS. I. EFFECTS OF HORMONES ON GLUCOSE METABOLISM AND LIPOLYSIS. *The Journal of biological chemistry*. Feb 1964;239:375-380.

16. Warotayanont R, Frenkel B, Snead ML, Zhou Y. Leucine-rich amelogenin peptide induces osteogenesis by activation of the Wnt pathway. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. Sep 25 2009;387(3):558-563.

17. Peng H, Huard J. Muscle-derived stem cells for musculoskeletal tissue regeneration and repair. *Transplant immunology.* Apr 2004;12(3-4):311-319.

18. Friedenstein AJ, Petrakova KV, Kurolesova AI, Frolova GP. Heterotopic of bone marrow. Analysis of precursor cells for osteogenic and hematopoietic tissues. *Transplantation.* Mar 1968;6(2):230-247.

19. Covas DT, Siufi JL, Silva AR, Orellana MD. Isolation and culture of umbilical vein mesenchymal stem cells. *Brazilian journal of medical and biological research* = *Revista brasileira de pesquisas medicas e biologicas / Sociedade Brasileira de Biofisica ... [et al.].* Sep 2003;36(9):1179-1183.

20. Gronthos S, Mankani M, Brahim J, Robey PG, Shi S. Postnatal human dental pulp stem cells (DPSCs) in vitro and in vivo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.* Dec 5 2000;97(25):13625-13630.

21. Johnstone B, Hering TM, Caplan AI, Goldberg VM, Yoo JU. In vitro chondrogenesis of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal progenitor cells. *Experimental cell research.* Jan 10 1998;238(1):265-272.

22. Pittenger MF, Mackay AM, Beck SC, et al. Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. *Science*. Apr 2 1999;284(5411):143-147.

23. Katritsis DG, Sotiropoulou PA, Karvouni E, et al. Transcoronary transplantation of autologous mesenchymal stem cells and endothelial progenitors into infarcted human myocardium. *Catheterization and cardiovascular interventions : official journal of the Society for Cardiac Angiography & Interventions.* Jul 2005;65(3):321-329.

24. Conejero JA, Lee JA, Parrett BM, et al. Repair of Palatal Bone Defects Using Osteogenically Differentiated Fat-Derived Stem Cells. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery.* 2006;117(3):857-863

810.1097/1001.prs.0000204566.0000213979.c0000204561.

25. Kobus KF. Cleft palate repair with the use of osmotic expanders: a preliminary report. *Journal of plastic, reconstructive & aesthetic surgery : JPRAS.* 2007;60(4):414-421.

26. Mao JJ, Giannobile WV, Helms JA, et al. Craniofacial tissue engineering by stem cells. *Journal of dental research*. Nov 2006;85(11):966-979.

27. Jager M, Jelinek EM, Wess KM, et al. Bone marrow concentrate: a novel strategy for bone defect treatment. *Current stem cell research & therapy.* Jan 2009;4(1):34-43.

28. Marcacci M, Kon E, Moukhachev V, et al. Stem cells associated with macroporous bioceramics for long bone repair: 6- to 7-year outcome of a pilot clinical study. *Tissue engineering*. May 2007;13(5):947-955.

29. Quarto R, Mastrogiacomo M, Cancedda R, et al. Repair of large bone defects with the use of autologous bone marrow stromal cells. *The New England journal of medicine.* Feb 1 2001;344(5):385-386.

30. Morishita T, Honoki K, Ohgushi H, Kotobuki N, Matsushima A, Takakura Y. Tissue engineering approach to the treatment of bone tumors: three cases of cultured bone grafts derived from patients' mesenchymal stem cells. *Artificial organs.* Feb 2006;30(2):115-118.

31. Warnke PH, Springer IN, Wiltfang J, et al. Growth and transplantation of a custom vascularised bone graft in a man. *Lancet.* Aug 28-Sep 3 2004;364(9436):766-770.

32. Horwitz EM, Gordon PL, Koo WK, et al. Isolated allogeneic bone marrowderived mesenchymal cells engraft and stimulate growth in children with osteogenesis imperfecta: Implications for cell therapy of bone. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.* Jun 25 2002;99(13):8932-8937.

33. Hernigou P, Beaujean F. Treatment of osteonecrosis with autologous bone marrow grafting. *Clinical orthopaedics and related research*. Dec 2002(405):14-23.

34. Pak J. Regeneration of human bones in hip osteonecrosis and human cartilage in knee osteoarthritis with autologous adipose-tissue-derived stem cells: a case series. *Journal of medical case reports.* 2011;5:296.

35. Kawate K, Yajima H, Ohgushi H, et al. Tissue-engineered approach for the treatment of steroid-induced osteonecrosis of the femoral head: transplantation of autologous mesenchymal stem cells cultured with beta-tricalcium phosphate ceramics and free vascularized fibula. *Artificial organs*. Dec 2006;30(12):960-962.

36. Kitoh H, Kitakoji T, Tsuchiya H, et al. Transplantation of marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells and platelet-rich plasma during distraction osteogenesis--a preliminary result of three cases. *Bone.* Oct 2004;35(4):892-898.

37. Gan Y, Dai K, Zhang P, Tang T, Zhu Z, Lu J. The clinical use of enriched bone marrow stem cells combined with porous beta-tricalcium phosphate in posterior spinal fusion. *Biomaterials.* Oct 2008;29(29):3973-3982.

38. Mitchell KE, Weiss ML, Mitchell BM, et al. Matrix cells from Wharton's jelly form neurons and glia. *Stem Cells.* 2003;21(1):50-60.

39. Lu LL, Liu YJ, Yang SG, et al. Isolation and characterization of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells with hematopoiesis-supportive function and other potentials. *Haematologica*. Aug 2006;91(8):1017-1026.

40. Troyer DL, Weiss ML. Wharton's jelly-derived cells are a primitive stromal cell population. *Stem Cells.* Mar 2008;26(3):591-599.

41. Fan CG, Zhang QJ, Zhou JR. Therapeutic potentials of mesenchymal stem cells derived from human umbilical cord. *Stem cell reviews.* Mar 2011;7(1):195-207.

42. Bongso A, Fong CY. The Therapeutic Potential, Challenges and Future Clinical Directions of Stem Cells from the Wharton's Jelly of the Human Umbilical Cord. *Stem cell reviews.* Apr 2013;9(2):226-240.

43. Pappa KI, Anagnou NP. Novel sources of fetal stem cells: where do they fit on the developmental continuum? *Regenerative medicine.* May 2009;4(3):423-433.

44. Wang HS, Hung SC, Peng ST, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells in the Wharton's jelly of the human umbilical cord. *Stem Cells.* 2004;22(7):1330-1337.

45. Rampichova M, Chvojka J, Buzgo M, et al. Elastic three-dimensional poly (epsilon-caprolactone) nanofibre scaffold enhances migration, proliferation and osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. *Cell proliferation.* Feb 2013;46(1):23-37.

46. Hayami JW, Waldman SD, Amsden BG. Injectable, high modulus and fatigue resistant, composite scaffold for load-bearing soft tissue regeneration. *Biomacromolecules.* Oct 22 2013.

47. Bokhari MA, Akay G, Zhang S, Birch MA. The enhancement of osteoblast growth and differentiation in vitro on a peptide hydrogel-polyHIPE polymer hybrid material. *Biomaterials.* Sep 2005;26(25):5198-5208.

48. Drury JL, Mooney DJ. Hydrogels for tissue engineering: scaffold design variables and applications. *Biomaterials.* Nov 2003;24(24):4337-4351.

49. Lee KY, Alsberg E, Mooney DJ. Degradable and injectable poly(aldehyde guluronate) hydrogels for bone tissue engineering. *Journal of biomedical materials research.* Aug 2001;56(2):228-233.

50. Patel M, Fisher JP. Biomaterial scaffolds in pediatric tissue engineering. *Pediatric research.* May 2008;63(5):497-501.

51. Lee KY, Mooney DJ. Hydrogels for tissue engineering. *Chemical reviews.* Jul 2001;101(7):1869-1879.

52. Miller RE, Grodzinsky AJ, Vanderploeg EJ, et al. Effect of self-assembling peptide, chondrogenic factors, and bone marrow-derived stromal cells on osteochondral repair. *Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society.* Dec 2010;18(12):1608-1619.

53. Zhang S, Holmes T, Lockshin C, Rich A. Spontaneous assembly of a selfcomplementary oligopeptide to form a stable macroscopic membrane. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.* Apr 15 1993;90(8):3334-3338.

54. Lampe KJ, Heilshorn SC. Building stem cell niches from the molecule up through engineered peptide materials. *Neuroscience letters.* Jun 25 2012;519(2):138-146.

55. Zippel N, Schulze M, Tobiasch E. Biomaterials and mesenchymal stem cells for regenerative medicine. *Recent patents on biotechnology.* Jan 2010;4(1):1-22.

56. Taraballi F, Natalello A, Campione M, et al. Glycine-spacers influence functional motifs exposure and self-assembling propensity of functionalized substrates tailored for neural stem cell cultures. *Frontiers in neuroengineering.* 2010;3:1.

57. Sakou T. Bone morphogenetic proteins: from basic studies to clinical approaches. *Bone.* Jun 1998;22(6):591-603.

58. Boyne PJ. Application of bone morphogenetic proteins in the treatment of clinical oral and maxillofacial osseous defects. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume.* 2001;83-A Suppl 1(Pt 2):S146-150.

59. Mayer M, Hollinger J, Ron E, Wozney J. Maxillary alveolar cleft repair in dogs using recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 and a polymer carrier. *Plastic and reconstructive surgery.* Aug 1996;98(2):247-259.

60. Arosarena OA, Collins WL. Bone regeneration in the rat mandible with bone morphogenetic protein-2: a comparison of two carriers. *Otolaryngology--head and neck surgery : official journal of American Academy of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery*. Apr 2005;132(4):592-597.

61. Govender S, Csimma C, Genant HK, et al. Recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 for treatment of open tibial fractures: a prospective, controlled, randomized study of four hundred and fifty patients. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume.* Dec 2002;84-A(12):2123-2134.

62. Termaat MF, Den Boer FC, Bakker FC, Patka P, Haarman HJ. Bone morphogenetic proteins. Development and clinical efficacy in the treatment of fractures and bone defects. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume.* Jun 2005;87(6):1367-1378.

63. Paramore CG, Lauryssen C, Rauzzino MJ, et al. The safety of OP-1 for lumbar fusion with decompression-- a canine study. *Neurosurgery.* May 1999;44(5):1151-1155; discussion 1155-1156.

64. Meyer RA, Jr., Gruber HE, Howard BA, et al. Safety of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 after spinal laminectomy in the dog. *Spine.* Apr 15 1999;24(8):747-754.

65. Perri B, Cooper M, Lauryssen C, Anand N. Adverse swelling associated with use of rh-BMP-2 in anterior cervical discectomy and fusion: a case study. *The spine journal : official journal of the North American Spine Society.* Mar-Apr 2007;7(2):235-239.

66. Poynton AR, Lane JM. Safety profile for the clinical use of bone morphogenetic proteins in the spine. *Spine*. Aug 15 2002;27(16 Suppl 1):S40-48.

67. Valcourt U, Ronziere MC, Winkler P, Rosen V, Herbage D, Mallein-Gerin F. Different effects of bone morphogenetic proteins 2, 4, 12, and 13 on the expression of cartilage and bone markers in the MC615 chondrocyte cell line. *Experimental cell research.* Sep 15 1999;251(2):264-274.

68. Gori F, Thomas T, Hicok KC, Spelsberg TC, Riggs BL. Differentiation of human marrow stromal precursor cells: bone morphogenetic protein-2 increases OSF2/CBFA1, enhances osteoblast commitment, and inhibits late adipocyte maturation. *J Bone Miner Res.* Sep 1999;14(9):1522-1535.

69. Karahuseyinoglu S, Cinar O, Kilic E, et al. Biology of stem cells in human umbilical cord stroma: in situ and in vitro surveys. *Stem Cells.* Feb 2007;25(2):319-331.

70. Bessa PC, Casal M, Reis RL. Bone morphogenetic proteins in tissue engineering: the road from laboratory to clinic, part II (BMP delivery). *Journal of tissue engineering and regenerative medicine*. Mar-Apr 2008;2(2-3):81-96.

71. Li DR, Cai JH. Methods of isolation, expansion, differentiating induction and preservation of human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells. *Chinese medical journal.* Dec 2012;125(24):4504-4510.

72. Tomar GB, Srivastava RK, Gupta N, et al. Human gingiva-derived mesenchymal stem cells are superior to bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells for cell therapy in regenerative medicine. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. Mar 12 2010;393(3):377-383.

73. Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, et al. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy*. 2006;8(4):315-317.

74. Cavalcanti BN, Zeitlin BD, Nor JE. A hydrogel scaffold that maintains viability and supports differentiation of dental pulp stem cells. *Dental materials : official publication of the Academy of Dental Materials.* Jan 2013;29(1):97-102.

75. Bennun RD, Figueroa AA. Dynamic presurgical nasal remodeling in patients with unilateral and bilateral cleft lip and palate: modification to the original technique. *The Cleft palate-craniofacial journal : official publication of the American Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Association.* Nov 2006;43(6):639-648.

76. Arinzeh TL, Peter SJ, Archambault MP, et al. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells regenerate bone in a critical-sized canine segmental defect. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. American volume.* Oct 2003;85-A(10):1927-1935.

77. Agacayak S, Gulsun B, Ucan MC, Karaoz E, Nergiz Y. Effects of mesenchymal stem cells in critical size bone defect. *European review for medical and pharmacological sciences.* May 2012;16(5):679-686.

78. Cowan CM, Shi YY, Aalami OO, et al. Adipose-derived adult stromal cells heal critical-size mouse calvarial defects. *Nature biotechnology*. May 2004;22(5):560-567.

79. Caplan AI. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. *Journal of cellular physiology.* Nov 2007;213(2):341-347.

80. Shu -Rui Yang C-KC, Sydney Peng, Chao-YIn Ko, I-Ming Chu. Osteogenesis of Umbilical Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Photo-crosslinked Polyethylene glycol)/ε-caprolactone Hydrogels Journal of Medical and Biological Engineering. *Journal of Medical and Biological Engineering*. 2014;34(3):269-275.

81. Romanov YA, Svintsitskaya VA, Smirnov VN. Searching for alternative sources of postnatal human mesenchymal stem cells: candidate MSC-like cells from umbilical cord. *Stem Cells.* 2003;21(1):105-110.

82. Panepucci RA, Siufi JL, Silva WA, Jr., et al. Comparison of gene expression of umbilical cord vein and bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells.* 2004;22(7):1263-1278.

83. Fong CY, Chak LL, Biswas A, et al. Human Wharton's jelly stem cells have unique transcriptome profiles compared to human embryonic stem cells and other mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem cell reviews.* Mar 2011;7(1):1-16.

84. Shu-Rui Yang C-KC, Sydney Peng, Chao-Yin Ko, I-Ming Chu. Osteogenesis of Umbilical Mesenchymal Stem cells in Photo-crosslinked Poly (ethylene glycol)/ε-caprolactone hydrogels. *Journal of Medical and Biological Engineering.* 2013;34(3):269-275.

85. Golub EE, Boesze- Battaglia, K. The role of Alkaline Phosphatase in mineralization. *Current Opinion in Orhtopaedics.* 2007(18):444-448.
86. Robison R, Soames KM. The Possible Significance of Hexosephosphoric Esters in Ossification: Part II. The Phosphoric Esterase of Ossifying Cartilage. *The Biochemical journal.* 1924;18(3-4):740-754.

87. George J, Kuboki Y, Miyata T. Differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells into osteoblasts on honeycomb collagen scaffolds. *Biotechnology and bioengineering.* Oct 20 2006;95(3):404-411.

88. Benoit DS, Durney AR, Anseth KS. Manipulations in hydrogel degradation behavior enhance osteoblast function and mineralized tissue formation. *Tissue engineering*. Jun 2006;12(6):1663-1673.

89. Jaiswal N, Haynesworth SE, Caplan AI, Bruder SP. Osteogenic differentiation of purified, culture-expanded human mesenchymal stem cells in vitro. *Journal of cellular biochemistry.* Feb 1997;64(2):295-312.

90. Hoemann CD, El-Gabalawy H, McKee MD. In vitro osteogenesis assays: influence of the primary cell source on alkaline phosphatase activity and mineralization. *Pathologie-biologie.* Jun 2009;57(4):318-323.

91. Kamran Kaveh RI, Md. Zuki Abu Bakar and Tengku Azmi Ibrahim. Mesenchymal Stem Cells, Osteogenic Lineage and Bone Tissue Engineering: A Review. *Journal of Animal and Veternary Advances.* 2011;10(17):2317-2330.

92. Kopesky PW, Vanderploeg EJ, Sandy JS, Kurz B, Grodzinsky AJ. Self-assembling peptide hydrogels modulate in vitro chondrogenesis of bovine bone marrow stromal cells. *Tissue engineering. Part A.* Feb 2010;16(2):465-477.

93. Narmoneva DA, Oni O, Sieminski AL, et al. Self-assembling short oligopeptides and the promotion of angiogenesis. *Biomaterials.* Aug 2005;26(23):4837-4846.

94. Thonhoff JR, Lou DI, Jordan PM, Zhao X, Wu P. Compatibility of human fetal neural stem cells with hydrogel biomaterials in vitro. *Brain research.* Jan 2 2008;1187:42-51.

95. Burdick JA, Anseth KS. Photoencapsulation of osteoblasts in injectable RGDmodified PEG hydrogels for bone tissue engineering. *Biomaterials.* Nov 2002;23(22):4315-4323.

96. Ahn HH, Kim KS, Lee JH, et al. In vivo osteogenic differentiation of human adipose-derived stem cells in an injectable in situ-forming gel scaffold. *Tissue engineering. Part A.* Jul 2009;15(7):1821-1832.

97. Bencherif SA, Sands RW, Bhatta D, et al. Injectable preformed scaffolds with shape-memory properties. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.* Nov 27 2012;109(48):19590-19595.

98. Qingpu Hou PADBaKMS. Injectable scaffolds for tissue regeneration. *Journal of Materials Chemistry*. 05/06/04 2004;14:1915-1923.

99. Chen J, Shi ZD, Ji X, et al. Enhanced osteogenesis of human mesenchymal stem cells by periodic heat shock in self-assembling peptide hydrogel. *Tissue engineering. Part A.* Mar 2013;19(5-6):716-728.

100. Chung YI, Ahn KM, Jeon SH, Lee SY, Lee JH, Tae G. Enhanced bone regeneration with BMP-2 loaded functional nanoparticle-hydrogel complex. *Journal of controlled release : official journal of the Controlled Release Society.* Aug 16 2007;121(1-2):91-99.

101. Luu HH, Song WX, Luo X, et al. Distinct roles of bone morphogenetic proteins in osteogenic differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells. *Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society.* May 2007;25(5):665-677.

102. Rickard DJ, Sullivan TA, Shenker BJ, Leboy PS, Kazhdan I. Induction of rapid osteoblast differentiation in rat bone marrow stromal cell cultures by dexamethasone and BMP-2. *Developmental biology*. Jan 1994;161(1):218-228.

103. Fan J, Park H, Tan S, Lee M. Enhanced osteogenesis of adipose derived stem cells with Noggin suppression and delivery of BMP-2. *PloS one.* 2013;8(8):e72474.

104. Alsberg E, Anderson KW, Albeiruti A, Rowley JA, Mooney DJ. Engineering growing tissues. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.* Sep 17 2002;99(19):12025-12030.

105. Young S, Patel ZS, Kretlow JD, et al. Dose effect of dual delivery of vascular endothelial growth factor and bone morphogenetic protein-2 on bone regeneration in a rat critical-size defect model. *Tissue engineering. Part A.* Sep 2009;15(9):2347-2362.

106. Carlisle E, Fischgrund JS. Bone morphogenetic proteins for spinal fusion. *The spine journal : official journal of the North American Spine Society*. Nov-Dec 2005;5(6 Suppl):240S-249S.

107. McKay B, Sandhu HS. Use of recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 in spinal fusion applications. *Spine.* Aug 15 2002;27(16 Suppl 1):S66-85.

108. Walker DH, Wright NM. Bone morphogenetic proteins and spinal fusion. *Neurosurgical focus.* Dec 15 2002;13(6):e3.

109. Wong DA, Kumar A, Jatana S, Ghiselli G, Wong K. Neurologic impairment from ectopic bone in the lumbar canal: a potential complication of off-label PLIF/TLIF use of bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP-2). *The spine journal : official journal of the North American Spine Society.* Nov-Dec 2008;8(6):1011-1018.

110. Kaneko H, Arakawa T, Mano H, et al. Direct stimulation of osteoclastic bone resorption by bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)-2 and expression of BMP receptors in mature osteoclasts. *Bone.* Oct 2000;27(4):479-486.

111. Vaidya R, Carp J, Sethi A, Bartol S, Craig J, Les CM. Complications of anterior cervical discectomy and fusion using recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2. *European spine journal : official publication of the European Spine Society, the European Spinal Deformity Society, and the European Section of the Cervical Spine Research Society.* Aug 2007;16(8):1257-1265.

112. Semino CE. Self-assembling Peptides: From Bio-inspired Materials to Bone Regeneration. *Journal of dental research*. 07// 2008;87(7):606-616.

113. Hanada K, Dennis JE, Caplan AI. Stimulatory effects of basic fibroblast growth factor and bone morphogenetic protein-2 on osteogenic differentiation of rat bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells. *J Bone Miner Res.* Oct 1997;12(10):1606-1614.

114. Hu JJ, Liu YW, He MY, Jin D, Zhao H, Yu B. Proteomic analysis on effectors involved in BMP-2-induced osteogenic differentiation of beagle bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells. *Proteome science*. 2014;12(1):13.

115. Zachos TA, Shields KM, Bertone AL. Gene-mediated osteogenic differentiation of stem cells by bone morphogenetic proteins-2 or -6. *Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society.* Jun 2006;24(6):1279-1291.